A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER 

Hapa United, LLC (d/b/a Wave Island Grill and Sushi Bar), 

Petitioner, asks this Court to accept review of the Court of Appeals 

decision terminating review designated in Part B of this Petition. 

B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION 

On June 1 0, 2014 the Court of Appeals filed a decision overturning 

the trial court's ruling setting aside a Default Order stating, "'Because 

Wave does not establish a conclusive defense and does not show 

excusable mistake or inadvertence, it has not met its burden justifying 

vacation of the Default Order under CR 60(b)(1)." A copy of the decision 

is in the Appendix at pages A-1 through A-9. 

This Court denied Petitioner's Motion for Reconsideration on 

August 7, 2014. A copy of the decision is in the Appendix at pages A-

10. 

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

1. Whether the Court of Appeals had jurisdiction when the 

appeal was improperly filed; since rulings vacating Default Orders are not 

appealable as a matter of right. 

2. Whether the Court of Appeals' decision finding the trial 

court abused its discretion is contrary to well established case law that 
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decisions setting aside Default Orders are within the sound discretion of 

the trial court and cases should be decided on the merits. 

3. Whether the Court of Appeals' ruling that Petitioner's 

actions amounted to inexcusable neglect is in conflict with other decisions 

by the Court of Appeals. 

D. STATEMENTOFTHECASE 

1. PROCEDURAL FACTS 

Plaintiff filed a Summons and Complaint on August 27, 2012 and 

claims Jordan Troutt, the only officer of Hapa United, LLC, was 

personally served on July 19, 2012. (CP 1-7) However, Mr. Troutt does 

not remember being served the Summons and Complaint. (CP 85) 

Plaintiffhas presented service of process paperwork with the name Jordan 

Troutt handwritten next to "Person Served." (CP 92) Mr. Troutt 

acknowledges that the handwriting is similar to his, although it is not his 

standard signature. (CP 123) However, the service of process paperwork 

does not refresh his recollection of being served, nor does he remember 

writing his name on the documents. (CP 124) Mr. Troutt signed a 

Declaration stating: 

I do acknowledge, though, that if I was served the 
Summons and Complaint I must have set aside the 
documents or forgot about them while I was tending to the 
bar and restaurant that evening. If so, it was a mistake on 
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my part. I did work at the restaurant on the evening 
Plaintiff claims I was served and did not clock out until 
2:00 a.m. I have a very busy restaurant business and if 
Plaintiff is correct that I was tending bar when I was served 
then I was most likely juggling many tasks at one time. My 
time tending to the bar and restaurant is very stressful and I 
usually have a lot on my mind between making sure 
customers are taken care of to ensuring that my staff is on 
task. I did not "choose to ignore" any papers that were 
served on me. On the contrary, I take this matter very 
seriously. 

(CP 124). 

An Order of Default was entered against Hapa United, LLC on 

October 4, 2012. (CP 11) Judgment was then entered in the amount of 

$350,000 against Hapa United, LLC on November 16, 2012. (CP 21) 

On November 21, 2012 Mr. Troutt received a letter from Plaintiffs 

counsel indicating a Default Judgment had been entered against Hapa 

United, LLC. (CP 104) Mr. Troutt contacted Travelers Insurance 

Company who retained attorney William Spencer. (CP 84, CP 29) A 

Notice of Appearance was filed by Mr. Spencer on December 21, 2012. 

(CP 24) A Motion to Vacate Default Judgment was then filed within three 

(3) months, on March 18, 2013. (CP 67) 

In its Motion to Vacate Default Judgment Defendant asked the 

court to set aside both the Default Order and the Default Judgment. (CP 

67) In its moving papers, Defendant indicated it had had no time to 
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conduct formal discovery or develop any of its defenses prior to filing the 

Motion to Vacate Default Judgment. (CP 74) Defendant stated: 

At this point in time, Defendant knows of at least six ( 6) 
current and former employees of the Wave that were 
witnesses to the incident although Defendant has not been 
able to locate or contact all of them yet. Defendant also has 
names of other witnesses and individuals involved in the 
incident although Defendant has not yet been able to locate 
or contact all of them, as well. Further discovery is 
required. 

(CP 29) It also wrote in its moving papers to the court, "If this court feels 

it requires more information on the facts of the incident than what has 

been provided, Defendant requests leave to provide further Declarations 

from witnesses." (CP 121) 

The trial court heard Defendant's Motion to Vacate Default 

Judgment on April12, 2013. (VP 1) In the Court's ruling it considered all 

the briefing by the parties, as well as argument of counsel, and made two 

rulings: it vacated the Judgment and, in addition, the Court specifically 

wrote in a separate line of the order, "The Default Order entered into on 

October 16, 2012 is also vacated." (CP 128) On May 6, 2013 Plaintiff 

filed a Notice of Appeal. (CP 129) On September 23, 2013 Plaintiff filed 

his opening brief indicating he was only appealing the trial court's ruling 

setting aside the Default Order. Plaintiff did not appeal the ruling vacating 

the Default Judgment. 
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2. SUBSTANTIVE FACTS 

The incident in this case stems from a chaotic evening inside and 

outside the Wave Island Grill and Sushi Bar (hereinafter "Wave") that 

involved employees of the Wave, over 20 patrons of the Wave and/or 

individuals outside the restaurant and various law enforcement personnel 

including police, fire and medics. (CP 86, CP 49-54, CP 1 06-07) Plaintiff 

claims to have been hit in the face during the incident. (CP 50) 

At the time the Motion to Vacate Default Judgment was filed 

Plaintiff had never provided the name or physical description of the 

individual who assaulted him to Defendant or to the police. (CP 50, 120) 

It is not clear why Plaintiff believes it was a security guard from the Wave 

that hit him and Defendant has strongly contested that it was such a 

person. (CP 120) Jordan Troutt, in support of this position, filed a 

Declaration in the trial court indicating that no security guard from the 

Wave hit Plaintiff. (CP 86) 
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E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED 

1. THE COURT OF APPEALS LACKED JURISDICTION TO 
HEAR THIS MATTER, BECAUSE THE APPEAL WAS 
IMPROPERLY FILED. 

Rulings vacating Default Orders are not appealable as a matter of 

right; they are subject to the discretionary review of the court. RAP 2.2 & 

2.3; Gutz v. Johnson, 128 Wash. App. 901, 910, 117 P.3d 390 (2005). In 

this case, Plaintiff failed to properly file its appeal of the trial court's 

ruling vacating the Default Order and the Court of Appeals failed to decide 

whether discretionary review should be accepted. Therefore, the decision 

by the Court of Appeals was in direct conflict with case law. RAP 

13.4(b)(2) It also violated Petitioner's rights to due process since proper 

procedure was not followed in filing the appeal and the Court of Appeals 

did not have jurisdiction to hear the matter. RAP 13.4(b)(3). U.S. Const. 

Amend. V and XIV; Wash. Const. Art. 1 §3. 

RAP 2.1(a) provides there are two methods for seeking review of a 

decision of the superior court by the Court of Appeals: 

(1) Review as a matter of right, called "appeal;" and 

(2) Review by permission of the reviewing court, called 
"discretionary review." 

RAP 2.2 outlines which decision of the superior court may be appealed as 

a matter of right. RAP 2.2(a)(10) states: "An order granting or denying 
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Motion to Vacate a Judgment is appealable as a matter of right." 

(Emphasis added). However, rulings on Default Orders are not appealable 

as a matter of right according to RAP 2.2 and are subject to discretionary 

review according to Division II of the Court of Appeals in its ruling in 

Gutz v. Johnson, 128 Wash. App. 901, 910, 117 P.3d 390 (2005). In this 

case, Plaintiff made a decision not to appeal the trial court's ruling 

vacating the Default Judgment; he only appealed the trial court's ruling 

vacating the Default Order. 

There is a reason that the Rules of Appellate Procedure have 

divided appeals into two categories; those as a matter of right and those 

based on discretionary review. The judgments, orders, and rulings listed 

in RAP 2.2 are all characterized by a measure of finality. 2A W APRAC 

RAP 2.2. Those decisions that are not characterized by a measure of 

finality are subject to discretionary review. RAP 2.3. 

The Rules of Appellate Procedure outline a strict process for the 

Court of Appeals to decide whether to accept discretionary review of a 

case under RAP 2.3. RAP 6.2(b) provides that: "The party seeking 

discretionary review must file in the Appellate Court a Motion for 

Discretionary Review within fifteen (15) days after filing the Notice for 

Discretionary Review." (Emphasis added). The Court of Appeals then 
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considers whether to accept revtew according to the four specific 

circumstances listed in RAP 2.3(b ): 

(1) The superior court has committed an obvious error 
which would render further proceedings useless; 

(2) The superior court has committed probable error 
and the decision of the superior court substantially 
alters the status quo or substantially limits the 
freedom of a party to act; 

(3) The superior court has so far departed from the 
accepted and usual course of judicial proceedings, 
or so far sanctioned such a department by an inferior 
court or administrative agency, as to call for review 
by the appellate court; or 

( 4) The superior court has certified, or all the parties to 
the litigation have stipulated, that the order involved 
a controlling question of law as to which there is 
substantial ground for a difference of opinion and 
that immediate review of the order may materially 
advance the ultimate termination of the litigation. 

In this case, Plaintiff did not file a Motion for Discretionary 

Review. In turn, the Court of Appeals did not consider whether to accept 

review of the trial court's ruling vacating the Default Order based on the 

four criteria outlined in RAP 2.3(b ). 

If Plaintiff had followed proper procedure and filed a Motion for 

Discretionary Review, the Court of Appeals would not have had tenable 

grounds for granting discretionary review. It would have been difficult for 

Plaintiff and the Court of Appeals to make out "probable error" within the 
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meaning of RAP 2.3(b )(2), let alone obvious error according to RAP 

2.3(b )(1 ), when the decision of the superior court was reviewable only for 

abuse of discretion. See In Re Matter of Lewis' Welfare, 89 Wn.2d 113, 

569 P.2d 1158 (1977). Moreover, there was no evidence the superior court 

departed from the accepted and usual course of judicial proceedings 

according to RAP 2.3(b)(3), since the decision to grant or deny a default is 

within the trial court's sound discretion. Cox v. Spangler, 141 Wn.2d 431, 

439, 5 P.3d 1265 (2000). RAP(b)(4) was inapplicable, since there was no 

certification or stipulation in this case. 

2. THE COURT OF APPEALS' DECISION FINDING THE 
TRIAL COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION IS CONTRARY 
TO WELL ESTABLISHED CASE LAW. 

a. THE DECISION TO GRANT OR DENY A DEFAULT 
IS WITHIN THE TRIAL COURT'S SOUND 
DISCRETION. 

The policy of the courts is to set aside defaults liberally. Hull v. 

Vining, 17 Wash. 352, 360, 49 P. 537 (1897). The decision to grant or 

deny a default is within the trial court's sound discretion. Cox v. Spangler, 

141 Wn.2d 431, 439, 5 P.3d 1265 (2000). A trial court has "broad 

discretion in ruling on evidentiary matters and will not be overturned 

absent manifest abuse of discretion." !d. A trial court's decision, "is 

manifestly unreasonable if it is outside the range of acceptable choices." 
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Landstar Inway, Inc. v. Samrow, 325 P.3d 327, 335 (2014) (Emphasis 

added.). 

In reviewing a Motion to Vacate, the Court's principle inquiry 

should be whether a default is just and equitable. Little v. King, 160 

Wn.2d 696, 710-711, 161 P.3d 345 (2007). The inquiry is not a 

mechanical test. Little, 160 Wn.2d at 704. This system is flexible because 

what is just and proper must be determined by the facts of each case, not 

by a hard and fast rule applicable to all situations regardless of the 

outcome. Little, 160 Wn.2d at 703. In this case, when looking at the 

unique set of facts and circumstances, the trial court applied justice and 

equitable principles in deciding to set aside the Default Order. The 

Court's decision was not outside the range of acceptable choices given to 

it in making a decision. 

Under Fowler v. Johnson, 167 Wash. App. 596, 601, 273 P.3d 

1042 (2012), "only if no other reasonable person could conclude the 

same," should the Court's decision be reversed. (Emphasis added.) It is 

unimaginable that no other reasonable person could conclude the same as 

Judge Eitzen did in the trial court by setting aside the Default Order in this 

case. Moreover, a reasonable person would not find that her choice was 

outside the range of acceptable choices. Therefore, the Court of Appeals' 
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decision reversing the trial court's decision setting aside the Default Order 

in this case was contrary to law. RAP 13.4(b)(2). 

b. CASES SHOULD BE DECIDED ON THE MERITS. 

The prevailing opinion in Washington State is that courts do not 

favor defaults. See Calhoun v. Merritt, 46 Wash. App. 616, 618-19, 731 

P .2d 1094 (1986). Defaults are considered a drastic action and it is the 

policy of the law that controversies be determined on the merits rather than 

by default. Griggs v. Averbeck Realty, Inc., 92 Wn.2d 576, 581, 599 P.2d 

1289 (1979) (Emphasis added). The Court of Appeals' decision to reverse 

the trial court's ruling vacating the Default Order takes away Hapa United 

LLC's ability to have its liability defense heard on the merits. RAP 

13.4(b )(1 )&(2). 

The Court of Appeals, in its opinion reversing the trial court, 

scrutinized the element of excusable neglect more closely since it believed 

Respondent did not present a conclusive defense. However, Respondent 

was never able to present a conclusive defense at the time it filed its 

Motion to Vacate Default Judgment. In its moving papers Respondent 

was frank with the court on this issue. It had no time to conduct formal 

discovery or develop any of its defenses prior to filing the Motion to 
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Vacate Default Judgment, including serving Interrogatories on Plaintiff or 

deposing Plaintiff. 

At the time Defendant filed its Motion to Vacate Default Judgment 

it did not know who may have struck Plaintiff, but had no reason to 

believe it was a security guard of the Wave. Without a name and physical 

description of the assailant, Defendant was working in a vacuum. Plaintiff 

was the only person, other than potentially some unknown witnesses at the 

time, who could give a physical description of his assailant. Therefore, a 

true question of fact existed as to who actually struck Plaintiff at the time 

the Motion to Set Aside Default Judgment was filed. 

This was not a simple incident that occurred; over 30 people were 

involved and it was a chaotic situation. Not only were there questions as 

to who the identity of the person was that hit Plaintiff, but there were also 

questions as to how the incident unfolded, whether it was an employee of 

the restaurant that hit Plaintiff, who and how many people were involved 

in the incident, what each person saw and why the incident occurred. 

There were a myriad of people to interview including persons not 

employed by the restaurant and persons not listed in the police report, in 

order to fully determine what occurred on the night in question. Defendant 

did not have all the witness names or contact information at the time it 
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filed its Motion to Vacate Default Judgment. Defendant also did not have 

sole access to witnesses, because those witnesses were not just employees 

of the restaurant, but several dozen patrons and people on the street as well 

as police, fire and medic personnel. 

Hapa United, LLC should have the opportunity to conduct further 

discovery and have its liability defense heard on the merits in order to have 

a just and equitable outcome in this case. 

3. THE DECISION BY THE COURT OF APPEALS THAT 
PETITIONER'S ACTIONS AMOUNTED TO INEXCUSABLE 
NEGLECT IS IN CONFLICT WITH OTHER DECISIONS BY 
THE COURT OF APPEALS. 

The decision by the Court of Appeals that Hapa United LLC's 

actions were inexcusable neglect is in conflict with other Court of Appeals 

cases. RAP 13.4(b)(2) While it is true that Mr. Troutt is a local 

downtown Spokane business owner, he is young, inexperienced and this 

was the first business he had owned that had been sued. His restaurant 

was not a sophisticated business operation such as the big corporations, 

insurance companies or law firms in other cases decided by the Court of 

Appeals. 

In TMT v. Bear Creek Shopping Center, Inc. v. P ETCO Animal 

Supplies, Inc., 140 Wash. App. 191, 165 P.3d 1271 (2007), relied upon by 

the Court of Appeals, a landlord obtained a Default Judgment against its 

13 



tenant PETCO. PETCO filed a Motion to Vacate the Default Judgment, 

which was denied. !d. The Court of Appeals affirmed the trial court's 

ruling stating that PETCO's failure to appear was not due to excusable 

neglect. !d. The TMT case is distinguishable. 

In TMT, the landlord served the Summons and Complaint on 

PETCO'S registered agent in Washington, who forwarded the documents 

to PETCO's general counsel's office. 140 Wash. App. at 197-98. A legal 

assistant in the office of PETCO's general counsel who received the 

documents did not enter the information regarding the Summons and 

Complaint into the general counsel's calendaring system nor did she notify 

general counsel ofthe documents. 140 Wash. App at 198. There was a 

further breakdown in procedure with regard to other employees, as well. 

!d. The court determined that PETCO's neglect was due to a breakdown 

in internal office management and procedure involving more than a single 

omission and was, therefore, inexcusable. 140 Wash. App. at 212-213. 

PETCO is a large corporation and their general counsel specializes 

in legal matters including the filing and service of lawsuits. In this case, 

Mr. Troutt is not a large corporation or a law firm; he is a young man who 

runs a local restaurant and was being sued for the first time. The one 

omission on his part was a mistake; he set aside and/or lost documents that 
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he does not remember being served. In contrast, the court in TMT 

determined the general counsel's office made many mistakes and there 

was a breakdown in the system of the office as a whole. 

The Prest v. American Bankers Life Assurance Company, 29 

Wash. App. 93, 900 P.2d 595 (1995) case relied upon by the Court of 

Appeals is also distinguishable. In that case a default was entered against 

a large insurance company. /d. Service of the Summons and Complaint 

was on the Office ofthe Washington Insurance Commissioner. 29 Wash. 

App. at 95. It was then forwarded to Dennis DiMaggio who was general 

counsel for the insurance company. /d. The insurance company failed to 

appear or respond. /d. It argued that Mr. DiMaggio had been assigned to 

a new position prior to service being made on it and that Mr. DiMaggio's 

duties did not include handling of legal matters or defense of lawsuits 

anymore. 29 Wash. App. at 96. Mr. DiMaggio had also been on vacation 

when served. /d. In determining the insurance company's actions were 

not excusable, the court reasoned it is an important part of the business of 

an insurance company to respond to legal process that is served upon it 

and that it had failed in several regards. 29 Wash. App. at 100. 

American Bankers Life Assurance Company was a sophisticated 

business and their counsel hired to handle service of process matters 
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specialized in legal matters as did PETCO's counsel in the TMT case. As 

in TMT, there was also a systemic failure in the system and not one 

isolated mistake. In our case, as has been previously pointed out, the 

individual being served papers was not a sophisticated or experienced 

individual in these matters; he was a young man who had never been sued 

before and made one mistake. 

The case of Boss Logger, Inc. v. Aetna Casualty & Surety 

Company, 93 Wash. App. 682, 970 P.2d 755 (1999), which the Court of 

Appeals did not rely upon, is illustrative. In Boss Logger, Inc. a large 

insurance company was sued and did not respond to the Summons and 

Complaint. 93 Wash. App. at 684. The court set aside the default even 

though it was determined that the correct person did receive the papers, 

but they were lost. 93 Wash. App. at 689. The court reasoned that: 

Unlike the insurer in Prest, Aetna's failure to respond was 
not a systemic failure which would prevent all litigants 
from achieving actual notice to the insurer ... The system 
itself was not flawed, but someone in the process lost the 
papers. The trial court's determination that this was a 
mistake, and not inexcusable neglect, was therefore not an 
abuse of discretion. 

!d. (Emphasis added). 

Similarly, in our case, there was not a systemic failure at the Wave 

restaurant. Instead, one individual mislaid or lost the paperwork that was 
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served upon him, which was a mistake. 

Finally, the case of Brooks v. University City, Inc., 154 Wash. App. 

474, 225 P.3d 489 (2010) relied upon by the Court of Appeals is 

distinguishable, as well. In Brooks the plaintiff sued ICT Group, Inc., 

which is a large corporation that runs a multinational call center. !d. In 

determining there was inexcusable neglect, the court's focus was on the 

fact it took two years for the corporation to enter a Notice of Appearance 

after it was served the Summons. 154 Wash. App. at 479. In our case, the 

timing of the Notice of Appearance or Motion to Vacate Default Judgment 

were not at issue. 

As the court in Estate of Meyers v. US, 842 F. Sup. 1297 (E.D. 

Wash., 199) so eloquently stated: 

The court prefers to dispose of cases on their merits. In this 
case default judgment as a sanction for a single failure to 
adhere to a court deadline would [in itself] be an abuse of 
discretion. 

(Emphasis added). 

In our case, a young and inexperienced small business owner made one 

mistake by not remembering he was served papers and/or setting them 

aside. It is unbelievable that "no other reasonable person could conclude" 

that a 27 year old man who was very busy on the night he was served 

made a mistake and set aside the documents and forgot about them. In 
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hearing evidence from Mr. Troutt about the circumstances of service of 

papers on him the trial court made a discretionary ruling it believed was 

just and equitable. 

F. CONCLUSION 

Petitioner asks the Supreme Court to overturn the decision of the 

Court of Appeals and remand this case back to the trial court so that this 

case may be heard on its merits.