RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON Oct 01, 2014, 4:20 pm BY RONALD R. CARPENTER CLERK

### SUPREME COURT NO. 90703-0

RECEI

## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

CAMERON JONES, a single man,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

HAPA UNITED, LLC, A Washington Limited Liability Company, doing business as Wave Island Grill and Sushi Bar,

Defendant-Petitioner.

# RESPONDENT'S BRIEF IN OPPOSITION TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Breean Beggs, WSBA # 20795 Attorney for Plaintiff-Respondent 522 W. Riverside, Suite 560 Spokane, WA 99201 Tel: (509) 232-7760 Fax: (509) 232-7762



#

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

#### E. LEGAL ARGUMENT

# 1. <u>The Court of Appeals Had Proper Jurisdiction to Decide the</u> <u>Appeal.</u>

Wave contends that Mr. Jones improperly filed his appeal therefore the Court of Appeals did not have jurisdiction to hear the case. However, the appeal was filed as a matter of right because Mr. Jones was seeking relief from the "Order Granting Defendant's Motion to Vacate Default Judgment." (CP 127-128). As Wave correctly pointed out in its Petition, RAP 2.2(10) states that "an order granting or denying a motion to vacate a judgment" is appealable as a matter of right. Wave has cited to no case law, nor provided any authority, to suggest that appealing only part of such an order changes the nature of the appeal.

Regardless, even if the appeal was improperly designated, Wave's arguments are unfounded. First, Wave provides no case law establishing that the Court of Appeals shouldn't have heard this appeal. Nor is there case law provided to show that Wave was somehow deprived of due process. Instead, the Rules of Appellate procedure make it clear that in the event a notice of appeal is filed incorrectly, said notice will still be given the correct effect so that the ends of justice are met. Specifically, RAP 5.1(c) states, "a notice of appeal of a decision which is not appealable will be given the same effect as a notice for discretionary review." Similarly, RAP 5.3(f) states, "the appellate court will disregard defects in the form of a notice of appeal or a notice for discretionary review if the notice clearly reflects an intent by a party to seek review." These rules comply with the spirit of the appellate courts' intention to liberally interpret the rules of appellate procedure to "promote justice and facilitate the decision of cases on the merits." RAP 1.2(a), (c). The effect of these rules can be seen in Coballes v. Spokane County, 167 Wn. App. 857, 869 (2012), where the plaintiff filed her appeal as a matter of right, when it should have been filed as an appeal seeking discretionary review. The court, citing RAP 5.1(c), held that the notice of appeal was to be redesigned as a notice for discretionary review so that the case could be heard on the merits<sup>2</sup>. (*Id.*).

Even if this Court finds that the appeal should have been designated as one for discretionary review, the Court of Appeals was still entitled to hear the appeal on their own merit as they "may, on its own

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The plaintiff was instructed by the court to address whether she could meet the criteria for discretionary review under RAP 2.3(d). *Coballes*, 167 Wn. App. at 869.

initiative or on motion of a party, waive or alter the provisions of any of these rules ... in order to serve the ends of justice...." RAP 18.8(a). Regardless of the reasons why the Court of Appeals heard this case, they ultimately determined that there was an obvious error made by the trial court that warranted a reversal. Under RAP 2.3(b), the Court of Appeals may accept review of a Superior Court decision if that court "has committed obvious error which would render further proceedings useless," or "has committed probable error and the decision of the superior court substantially alters the status quo or substantially limits the freedom of a party to act." The June 10, 2014 decision by Division III revealed that the trial court did commit obvious error as the ruling did not address a key aspect of consideration under CR 60 – whether the defendant presented a defense. (Petition for Review, Appendix p. 8-9). The Court of Appeals determined that there was no conclusive defense, which warranted scrutiny of the remaining CR 60 elements. (Id.). Clearly, the Court of Appeals rendered a decision in order to serve the ends of justice and correct an error made at the trial court level. Therefore, even if the appeal was incorrectly designated, it was harmless error and the Court of Appeals had jurisdiction to hear the case under RAP 5.1 and RAP 5.3. Waves' claim that there was no jurisdiction to hear the appeal therefore lacks merit and this case should not be accepted for review.

## 2. This Case is Not Proper for Review by the Supreme Court.

A petition for review shall only be accepted by the Supreme Court:

(1) if the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or (2) if the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with another decision of the Court of Appeals; or (3) if a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or (4) if the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

RAP 13.4(b). Wave argues that this Court should accept review based on

RAP 13.4(2), claiming that the Court of Appeals' June 10, 2014 decision

is in conflict with other Court of Appeals' decisions. (Petition for Review,

p. 9, 13). However, the Court of Appeals' decision properly coincides

with Washington case law based on the facts of this case. Wave's Petition

for Review should therefore be denied.

i. <u>The Court of Appeals Had Proper Justification, Under</u> the Laws of the State of Washington, to Reverse the <u>Trial Courts Decision.</u>

The Washington Supreme Court case of *White v. Holm*, 73 Wn.2d 348 (1968), sets forth four factors that courts are to take into consideration when determining whether to vacate a default under WA CR 60. A

moving party must demonstrate:

 (1) That there is substantial evidence extant to support, at least prima facie, a defense to the claim asserted by the opposing party;
(2) that the moving party's failure to timely appear in the action, and answer the opponent's claim, was occasioned by mistake, inadvertence, surprise or excusable neglect;
(3) that the moving party acted with due diligence after notice of entry of the default judgment; and (4) that no substantial hardship will result to the opposing party.

White, 73 Wn. 2d at 352. Importantly, the court elaborated the following:

[W]here the moving party is able to demonstrate a strong or virtually conclusive defense to the opponent's claim, scant time will be spent inquiring into the reasons which occasioned entry of the default, provided the moving party is timely with his application and the failure to properly appear in the action in the first instance was not willful. On the other hand, where the moving party is unable to show a strong or conclusive defense, but is able to properly demonstrate a defense that would, prima facie at least, carry a decisive issue to the finder of the facts in a trial on the merits, the reasons for his failure to timely appear in the action before the default will be scrutinized with greater care, as will the seasonability of his application and the element of potential hardship on the opposing party.

Id. at 352-53. As a result, when determining whether a party is entitled to

have an order vacated, a trial court must inquire into "whether the

defendant can demonstrate the existence of a strong or virtually conclusive

defense or, alternatively, a prima facie defense to the Plaintiff's claims."

TMT, 140 Wn. App. at 201. The court's resulting inquiry depends on

answering that question first. Id. See also Johnson v. Cash Store, 116 Wn.

App. 833, 841 (2003)(holding that "[e]stablishment of the first factor

avoids a useless subsequent trial.").

In this case, Wave argues that any decision to vacate a default must be left solely to the trial court's discretion. However, Wave fails to address instances when the trial court abuses its discretion, as was done in this case. (Petition for Review, Appendix p.1). As the Court of Appeals correctly pointed out, the trial court failed to address whether Wave presented any evidence of a defense. (Petition for Review, Appendix p.1). This is a crucial element to determine whether CR 60 warrants vacating a judgment. *White*, 73 Wn.2d at 352. There are no cases cited by Wave justifying a trial court vacating a judgment without discussing the merits of CR 60. The Court of Appeals recognized this in its decision, when it reversed the trial court for abuse of discretion. Instead, the Court of Appeals rendered its decision well within the confines of Washington case law, rendering this petition meritless. (*See infra* Section 2(ii)).

> ii. <u>Pursuant to Washington Case Law, Wave's Failure to</u> <u>Respond to the Summons and Complaint was</u> <u>Inexcusable Neglect.</u>

The Court of Appeals correctly determined that under relevant Washington case law, Wave's explanations for failing to respond to the Summons and Complaint did not amount to excusable neglect. (Petition for Review, Appendix p. 8). Specifically, Wave failed to establish excusable mistake or inadvertence under Washington law. (*Id.*). The Defendant's burden to explain why he failed to answer the Summons and Complaint is equally as important as establishing that he has a valid defense. *Prest*, 79 Wn. App. at 99. The Court of Appeals cited three Washington cases in support of their decision to reverse the trial court. In *TMT Bear Creek Shopping Center, Inc. v. Petco Animal Supplies, Inc*, 140 Wn. App. 191, 213 (2007),

Division I held that it was inexcusable that the defendant:

failed to ensure that the legal assistant responsible for entering the deadline into the calendaring system did so before she left on an extended vacation, subsequently failed to ensure that employees hired to replace that assistant were trained on the calendaring system and competent in operating it, and failed to institute any other procedures necessary to ensure that PETCO's general counsel received notice of the dispute.

The Court held that "if a company's failure to respond to a properly served summons and complaint was due to a break-down of internal office procedure, the failure was not excusable." *TMT*, 140 Wn. App. at 212.

In *Prest v. American Bankers Life Assurance Co.*, 79 Wn. App. 93, 100 (1995), Division II of the Court of Appeals held that it was <u>inexcusable</u> when the file containing a properly served summons and complaint was "mislaid" and not properly forwarded to the proper personnel in time to answer it.

Finally, in *Brooks v. Univeristy City, Inc.*, 154 Wn. App. 474, 479 (2010) Division III decided a case where the defendant was properly served with a summons and complaint, but failed to respond. The Court denied the defendant's request to vacate an order of default reasoning that the defendant "got it, sat on it, didn't do anything." *Id.* Citing to *Prest*, the

court reasoned that the trial court's decision was not an abuse of discretion and the court had tenable reasons to conclude that there was a failure to show excusable neglect because the defendant appeared late in the action "after being served with a summons because its own registered agent failed to forward the summons to its legal department." *Id.* 

Similar to the case law set forth above, the Court of Appeals found that Wave and Jordan Troutt had no justifiable excuse for failing to answer the Summons and Complaint in this case. In fact, Mr. Troutt argued to the court that he does not dispute being served (VRP 6, 10), but that he made a "mistake" in not answering because he was bartending, multi-tasking, busy, and set it down and forgot it. (VRP 3, 6). This is right on point with the *Brooks* holding. The trial court acknowledged that Mr. Troutt inappropriately ignored the summons in hopes that it would go away, but then agreed with the Defendant and ruled that failure to answer was based on "inadvertence, mistake" based on Mr. Troutt's alleged busy bartending duties at the time he was served, his immaturity, or that he forgot. (VRP 17-18). The Court of Appeals decision correctly infers that there is no Washington case law to support vacating a judgment based on forgetfulness, being busy or immature; in fact, the opposite is true. Ignorance of the summons and complaint or the law is plainly not

excusable. See Hwang v. McMahill, 103 Wn. App. 945, 952

(2000)(holding that being too upset or impatient to read properly served legal papers does not warrant a finding of excusable neglect under CR 60(b)(1)). The Court of Appeals considered facts that the Superior Court should have taken into consideration, i.e. the reason for Wave's failure to timely appear was that Mr. Troutt ignored the Summons and Complaint thinking it would just go away. (VRP 17). Despite Wave's claims, this reasoning is far beneath an innocent breakdown in office procedures, which does not equate to excusable behavior as a matter of Washington law<sup>3</sup>.

In an attempt to reinstate the trial court's ruling, Wave now contends for the first time that the Court of Appeals should have rendered its decision pursuant to *Boss Logger, Inc. v. Aetna Casualty & Surety Co.*, 93 Wn. App. 682 (1999) instead of the illustrative *TMT Bear, Prest*, and *Brooks* line of cases. Wave's attempt is misplaced however because in *Boss Logger*, Division I found that the defendant had a conclusive defense and did not heavily address Washington's case law addressing inexcusable neglect. 93 Wn. App. at 689. In our case, the Court of Appeals did not

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> What's more interesting is that defense counsel even appeared to agree that entry of the Default Order on liability was appropriate and implied that they only want a trial on damages. (VRP 7-9).

find that Wave had a conclusive defense, only a prima facie defense. (Petition for Review, Appendix p. 8). Therefore, under Washington law, the Court was required to take a detailed look at the facts surrounding Wave's "mistake" claim. *See White*, 73 Wn.2d at 352-53.

The Court of Appeals properly applied Washington law to the facts in this case when it rendered its decision. Wave's claim that the decision is in conflict with other court of Appeals decisions is therefore unjustified. This is not a proper case to be heard by the Supreme Court and therefore the Court of Appeals decision should stand.

#### F. <u>CONCLUSION</u>

Based on the foregoing, Mr. Jones respectfully requests that this Court deny the Petition for Review and affirm the Division III Court of Appeals' decision to reinstate the Default Order, granted October 4, 2012.

Respectfully submitted October 1, 2014.

Breean L. Beggs, WSBA #20795\_\_\_\_\_ Attorney for Plaintiff-Respondent 522 W. Riverside, Suite 560 Spokane, WA 99201 Tel: (509) 232-7760/ Fax: (509) 232-7762